A SHORT HISTORY OF THE WEST BRIDGFORD GARDENHOLDERS ASSOCIATION

1915 to 1969
(Script provided by family member of former WBRHS member)
(subsequently West Bridgford and Rushcliffe Horticultural Society [after 1st April 1974] and West Bridgford Allotment Holders  [after 1st April 1992]

INTRODUCTION
The West Bridgford Gardenholders Association was formed in 1915. Little is known of the early history as all records prior to 1928 have been lost. But an early rule book and Members Subscription Card show that the objectives were:

· to maintain and provide land with security of tenure for gardens

· to hold meetings of members for horticultural lectures, discussions and demonstrations

· to hold exhibitions and competitions

· to protect its members and to further horticulture generally

Membership was open to allotment and private gardenholders in the district. And by and large, despite the incidence of two world wars,the Association has carried out those rules almost to the letter, giving valuable service to the local gardening community over the past 60 years (now 105 years).
The backbone of this non-political, non sectarian organisation has been, and still is, voluntary service by a small band of helpers, many of whom were past the prime of life and yet were prepared to put in much phyisical effort in manning the service huts, from which members bought their seed potatoes, fertilizers etc at favourable prices.

1915 - 1928
The subscription of 1s. 6d. (7.5p) per annum was a modest one in that the purchase of a bag of lime cost no more than that. The outbreak of the First World War gave an impetus to the Association's activities and brought a correspaonding increase in membership. The Govenment encouraged local authorities to requistion all unused land suitable for cultivation, and there was plenty in West Bridgford at the time. Our own West Bridgford Urban Council rose to the urgency of the occasion by fencing off these areas and clearing them of rubbish.

Many a family found pleasure and health in growing its own vegetables for the first time and gardening programmes on the radio became a popular feature, aided by the persuasive tones of our old friend, the late Mr. Middleton (my father gave me Middleton's All the Year Round gardening Guide in 1980, which he had as part of Dig For Victory Campaign: price 2s. 6d). His Sunday afternoon talks became a must in many households.

In the clouded era of the First World War a strong sense of social sevice ran like a vein of gold through the Association's activities. Whilst fully serving its members interests it rarely failed to respond to outside appeals for help from its always slender financial resources. One of the most successful and rewarding activities was its support over a long period of the Nottigham General Hospital Potato, Fruit and Vegetable Scheme, of which the late Mr C Taborn was chairman for upwards of 20 years. Under this scheme, which was supported by gardening associations throughout the county, the hospital received 75% of its potato requirements! In addition collections of other produce were made during the growing season. Prizes were given for the heaviest yield of potatoes from the ten sets that were given to each competitor and some heavy yields were achived, the record lift being over 200lbs, grown by Mr Ernest Button, a retired policeman. The Urban Council also co-operated in this scheme by growing a crop of potatoes on their farmland.

1928 – 1939
Having perused the records of our organisation one can only touch on the salient facts and figures which might prove of interest to the present membership. In 1928  the Chairman and President was Mr E J Glayzer. Mr H G Goddard had just succeeded Mr Roe as Secretary and the Treasuerer, Mr Jack Keatley was to hold office for 21 years. The Chairman of the Allotments Committee was Councillor R C S Ross, a local schoolmaster, who in one capacity or another served the Association for many years.

About this time Cllr. William Glover donated a gold medal for the best potato lift grown for the General Hospital, and Cllr. Ross donated a shield for the best row of sweet peas grown in any one year.

Cllr Ross with Cllr. Myall represented the Association on the Allotments Committee of the Urban Council along with Mr W White, the Assocition's representatives as a co-opted member. In later years there were four co-opted members on this committee. The surveyor at this period was Mr W Pare. About this time the membership was well over 200, the Lady Bay district having their own association.

At the 1930 AGM it was reported that the membership stood at 284. All show exhibits had been sent to the General Hospital and there were over 200 entries for the potato competion, four tons being sent to the hospital. Events during the year included an outing to Skegness at an inclusive cost of 6s. 6d. per head and a “smoker” at which Cecil Zamba and his party entertained at a fee of three guineas. A donation of £1 10s. had been made to the Parish Hall Building Fund (?Lutterell Hall).

In 1933 the Association decided to become affiliated to the Royal Horticultural Society. To mark the goldern wedding anniversary of Mr and Mrs W J Furse it was resolved to present them with a gold-mounted walking stick and a gold-mounted umberella at a cost of five guineas.

In 1934 Mr Ross was elected President and Mr W Martin succeeded Mr Goddard as Secretary. Mr A E Warwick took over as Chairman in 1935 having joined the Association in 1920. Dr Summers agreeed to award a cup for competition. The cup was to be awarded for growing “ the largest variety of produce of value to the working man and his family”. There were 20 entries for this competion, the first winner being Mr Tommy Mayfield. The profits for a successful show  were donated to the West Bridgford Nursing Association. 

In 1936 Mr F Woodward was elected Chairman and Mr George Feakin became Secretary. Mr Ross announced his retirement due to ill health and a presentation was made to mark his long years for service to the Association. Cllr. William Glover succeeded to the Chair in 1937, and the show exhibits were sent to the Nottingham Hospital for Women on Peel Street. In 1938 Mr G W Little became Chaiman and profit of £1 was put to the Association's Benevolent Fund. A grant of 10s was made to a member who had had his garden tools stolen.the Council were thanked for the provision of a new service hut for the Burleigh Road site (destoyed by fire in 2017).

Mr F W Fanshaw was elected President in 1939 when the Treasurer reported that although grants to benevolent and charitable causes had exceeded any other years total, the Association's assets were over £70. Mr H J Furse gave another cup to replace the one presented to his late father, which had been won outright by Mr Mayfield. Owing to the out break of war in September it was agreed to cancel the Annual Show and to discontinue regular monthly meetings and also to cancel the annual “smoker”.

1939 – 1945
There were 60 applications for war-time plots on Exchange Road and at Gamston. Owing to members being absent on war service it was proving difficult to raise a quorum at Committee Meetings. There were 88 new members made during 1939. 

In 1940, despite of the blackout, there was a good attenance at the AGM at which Mr. Freddy Pearson was elcted Chairman.The balance in hand was £82. Deliveries of seed potatoes were late owing to severe weather. An emergency meeting was called to consider the action of the military authorities in placing smokescreen canisters along the avenues at the Gamston plots.

Mr W Healy was elected President in 1941 and Mr Edgar Hill as Assistant Secretary. It was reported that 345 war plots had been marked out of which 265 were occupied. In addition there were 375 permanent plots. An invitation was received from the Mayor of Nottingham to send represenatives to the “Dig For Victory Conference”, and five of the committee attended. Mr Pearson and Mr Little were appointed honorary Garden Advisers. Mona Road representatives reported considerable damage done to crops on four plots from the Blitz on 8th May and suggested these were grounds for compensation (presume Mona Road plots were on the site of 1960's housing estate behind Poppy and Pint carpark?).

In 1942 the membership had reached over 400, and that 380 permanent plots and 420 wartime plots were being cultivated. It was resolved to hold a Brains Trust instead of the annual lecture. All competitions were cancelled except for the Hospital Potato Competition. Also resolved that all members serving in the Armed Forces should have their names kept on the membership roll. Order for seed potatoes increased to 12 tons to meet an incresed demand.

At the 1943 AGM a collection for the Prisoners of War Parcel Fund realised £15. Mr R S Vyle was elected Secretary, replacing Mr Feakin who was made a honary Life Vice-President. It was agreed to cooperate with the Urban Council in arranging a show during the “Holidays At Home Week”, proceeds going to the Merchant Navy Comforts Fund. It was reported 1760 attended the “Week” and raised £375.

In 1944 Mr Vyle reported difficulty of manning the service huts due to lack of manpower. He once found a neatly printed notice on the main hut saying “Does anyone ever come here?”.  Mr Taborn said he was arranging a course of six garden lectures at a fee of 1s 6d for the course. The Urban Council said future Committee Meetings could be held in the Council Chamber at the Hall. Another successful Show was held . There was a loss of 14 wartime plots in the Stamford Road/Valley Road area owing to the development of a new estate.

On a proposition of Mr Len Crabtree, at the 1945 AGM, it was agreeded to set up a Chrysanthemum Club, with its own committee, in cojunction with the Association. The club was reported to have a membership of 154. Eventually it was decide to “go it alone”. It was reported that 14 cattle had trampled the Holme Road plots. Mr Roy Grant took over as Secretary. Mr Feakin consented to take over the management of the Stores Department, exclusive of Sunday duties. The Chrysanthemum Society held its first show and its membership was over 200. It was agreeed to send cheques for two guineas to Mr Carmichael (Urban Surveyor) and Mr Wragg (Clerk to the Council) on their retiement. The Tresurer reported that 100 subscriptions remained unpaid.

1946 – 1969
In 1946 membership was 366, a  fall of 98. It was agreeded the annual subscription should rise from 1s 6d to 2s (10p) (First price increase since 1915!!). Mr J W Briggs became President. Mr Feakin and Mr Stanton were co-opted to the Alloments Committee of the Urban Council. Arrangements were made with Canon Wilson to renew the lease of the Mona Road plots for a further five years, with the exception of three plots that were required for other purposes. On a Sunday in November Mr Tommy Mayfield, a local milkman with a profound knowledge of gardening, gave a broadcast to the BBC radio from his garden. A series of “Garden Evenings” were arranged by the West Bridgford Arts Council and continued for some years.

The aftermarth of the war was still being felt in 1947. Fertilizers were still in short supply and seed potato stocks had been damaged by severe weather (7 weeks of intense cold and several snow falls; temperature of -21C recorded in Essex; then came  a rapid thaw and floods, with West Bridgford flooded on 17/18th March). There was only one entry for the Potato Competiotion. There had been poor support for the Annual Show and it was decided not to hold one in 1947. There had been no collection of rhubarb for the hospital “owing to members losses through floods”. Mr. E Birkin, Horticultural Adviser, was to give a talk on  “The reconditioning of land and treatment of crops after flooding”. Despite these problems there was a waiting list of over 100 for plots and the Association welcomed the approval of the Stamford Road Project for providing more plots. The Nottinghamshire County Council agreeed to lease the site for 30 years and 86 plots were laid out.

In 1948 Mr J H Spooner became Treasurer, suceeding Mr Keatley who was awarded a silver tankard for 21 years service. In 1949 Mr Spooner became President and Mr Reg Swingler Treasurer. Owing to a dry season, it was agreed to send five guineas to the hospital in llieu of produce.The Council were attending to the drainage at Stamford Road and water was laid on at Burleigh Road.

In 1950 it was agreed to end the Hospital Potato Scheme and to send a donation instead. Mr E D Wall was elected Chairman. Members were told  at the 1951 AGM that under the new Allotments Act notice to terminate tenancies would be extended to 12 months and council expenditure on plots was increased from 1 and 1/3d in the pound, to 2d. Plotholders at the Memorial Ground were given notice to quit. The level of several plots on the Stamford Road site was to be raised to obviate flooding.

It was noted in 1952 that new service huts were to be provided at Gamston, Stamford Road and Holme Road. The West Bridgford Atrs Council were arranging a Horticultural Forum at which Freddy Grisewood would be the questionmaster. This proved to be most successful with a large audience present to welcome the popular BBC radio personality. 

In 1953 A donation was made to the East Coast Disaster Fund (flood inundation killed 307 people, made 30,000 temporally homeless and flooded 65,000 hectres).
At the 1954 AGM members were told that the County Council had agreed to sell the Stamford Road site to the Urban District Council for £1350. Arthur Billet was to give a talk to the West Bridgford Arts Council. Mr Stanton was made a life vice-president after 37 years sevice to the Association. 

In 1955 Mr Bill Hill became President and Mr J Harrop was co-opted to the allotment committee. Mr Hall reported that 22 plots at Loughborough Road were subject to flooding.

Mr Harrop became Chairman in 1956. The Arts Council lecture was given by Harry Wheatcroft. A Motion that “owing to the shorter working week, Sunday trading should be kept to a minimum” was carried. Mr Grant, Secretary for 11 years, was replaced by Mr E D Wall. A cheque for £25 was sent to Mr Staton for long service, but, he returned it saying in his view he needed no reward for services gladly given.

At the 1957 AGM a sharp rise in seed potato prices was reported. Mr David Wheatcroft gave the Arts Council talk.

In 1958 Mr Shean was elected President and the Treasurer reported a small loss. There were nine vaccancies on the committee and the Stamford Road hut had to close as there was no one to run it. A Garden Quiz was arranged with the Wollaton Grange Club.  In 1959 Mr Dewsberry, Council Surveyor, gave details of a major sewage scheme. The Nottingham Hospital Fruit, Vegetable and Gift Scheme was dicontinued due to lack of support. A return visit was made by te Wollaton Grange Club. The Council decided to renew the lease of the Wilford Lane plots rather buy the land, £2 460 being thought too high a price.

At the 1960 AGM Mr J Spooner was elected Chairman. The Treasurer reported a loss of £17. The service huts at Wilford Land and Stamford Road remained closed due to lack of help. At the West Bridgford  Arts Club Mr L F Bowers, the Parks Superintentant showed films of the Chelsea Flower Show.

By 1961 the manning of the service huts had become critical and at the AGM it was agreed to pay an honorarium to members who voluteered to help at the huts. A gift of five guineas was made to Mr Eddy Weeds, the Council Surveyors Clerk, on his retirement. Membership had dropped to 480, down from 650. There was a loss of £17 from lapsed subscriptions. Mr Spooner was to retire after 22 years on the Committee.

In 1962 it was announced that the Gamston and Stamford Road Sewerage Scheme was to start. There had been a loss   of between £70 and £80 at the main service hut owing to a stock deficiency, which was being investigated. Mr S W Hall was elected Chairman and Mr D Husbands was elected honorary solicitor in succession to his late father. It was suggested that the fall in membership was due to the closing of the Stamford Road hut. The manpower position was described as “acute”. Mr Robert Doughy offered to re-open the hut. The Wilford Lane plots were taken over by the Trent River Board.

In 1963 Cllr. Turner resigned from the chairmanship ot the Allotments Committee and was succeeded by Cllr. Lappin. The Urban District Council decided to affiliate to the National Allotments and Gardens Association. The membership reached over 700, the highest ever recorded. Subscriptions were raised from 2s to 2s 6d (12.5p). Mr Bramley became honorary solicitor. Over £1,220 was spent by the council on the allotments.

At the 1964 AGM Cllr Lappin told members that the scheme to supply piped water was to be advanced  in stages. Mr Swingler, Treasurer, said the net trading profit had doubled in the last year. There were still seven vacancies on ther Committee. There had been a meeting with the Urban Council over regrouping plots. Another talk had been given by Arthur Billet.

At the 1965 AGM Mr D N Potter was elected Chairman. The main part of the Sewerage Scheme (see 1962) was now complete. There had been much vandalism on the allotment sites. £390 was to be spent laying on a water supply at the Loughborough Road site. 11 plots at the Burleigh Road site were to be required for a new school. Protests were made at the short notice given and the Borough council were pressing the County Council for compensation of £700.  The Council also put forward a plan to reorganise the Stamford Road site.

In 1967 the County Council said a further 14 plots at Burleigh Road were needed for a new Roman Catholic school. A claim for £150 compensation was made.

In 1968 Mr Doughty became Chairman. The Council had given 12 months notice to give up the Mona Road site, which had been leased to the Council by the Church authorities. The Council pointed out that the area on Mona Road was marked as an Open Space on the West Bridgford Town Plan so they would oppose the planning application by the Church.  The appeal was rejected as the area was shown to be Glebe Land and that planning permission was not required for such areas. The Church sold the land to a builder and the Mona Road plots were lost. No other site was available within Lady Bay. A compensation claim for £170 was made.

Mr William Hemstock became President in 1969. There were still nine vacancies on the committee and only six helpers for the huts. The Committee purchased two copies of Prof Thorpe's Government report into the Future of the Allotment Movement, which included suggestions for “Leisure Gardens”. The Council purchased a new store for the Loughborough Road site costing £119. The Council's Allotments Committee was amalgamated with the Park, Hall and Playing Fields Committee and four Association members would be co-opted onto the new committee.

